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Prologue -1 
New Orleans
12 June 1999 21:30

Red Pencil Brigade:

I have two different starts for this book.  The first listed as prologue – 1  Describes the death of a man who will betray the president.. one of his secret service agents who will give away the entire show to the terrs.  If I choose this start, it will set the scene for a terr infiltration of the secret service.  Several possibilities exist for this, including threats to children, money, greed, possible power trips – VP is also an eagle force member, etc.  Just haven’t quite made up my mind as to what motivates this relatively minor, but pivotal character.

The second – prologue 2 describes the ideal revenge motivation for a terr.. the death of his children at the hands of a malicious government.  I will subsequently chronicle the good man gone bad as he “goes over to the dark side.”

I can, of course, use both and weave the second tale into the body of the book…
I would appreciate your opinion.
Halverson woke up on a boat. It took him a few moments to realize this, but the gentle rocking feeling was unmistakable.  

As he woke up further, his face throbbed. Each time his heart beat, the stabbing in his nose spread out over his forehead and cheeks, flowed behind his eyes, and bounced off his left ear.  The pain seemed to rebound just in time to start again.   With an effort borne solely of will, he started to inventory the damage to his body.

He couldn’t see through the swelling around his left eye.  As he moved his tongue, he felt the sharp edges of a broken upper left tooth.  This movement set off another wave of pain.

He reached up to touch his nose.  The motion lanced pain into his right side as rib ends grated together.  He coughed and whimpered as the rib ends spread agony along his chest wall.

Something was wrong with his right leg. His foot was quite warm, and he couldn’t wiggle his toes. His left leg moved just fine. 

When he moved his hands, the motion caught the attention of his captors.  “Ah, Halverson.  We wanted you awake for this.” The voice sounded vaguely familiar but he didn’t recognize it. 

The heavy humid air beat past him on the deck as the boat coursed ahead. The rope of jewel-like lights of the causeway before him placed him in Lake Pontchartrain just north of New Orleans’ West End Boulevard. He was about a hour’s ride from the Bally’s casino wharf where he groggily remembered being beaten and stuffed in the boat. 

“But why New Orleans… Why am I in New Orleans?” He thought.
Halverson rocked forward as the boat’s motor wound down.  The motion sent pain lancing into his right side again.  The rocking slowed. 

As the boat stopped moving, that almost familiar voice whispered huskily in his right ear.  “Actions and consequences, son… Our actions earn their own consequences.”  The pungent odor of clove cigarette smoke wafted over him as the man whispered.

They strapped a SCUBA tank to his back.  As the straps were buckled about his waist, the rough handling rubbed the bone ends in his right side together again.  A whimper slid past his lips.   The owner of the husky whisper handed him a knife. He felt the rough hilt slap into his palm and gasped as the motion moved his right shoulder.  “Why the SCUBA tank?” He thought.  “Why did they give me a weapon?”  

Then they splashed a bucketful of brackish water into his face.  His left ear shrieked in torment as the water streamed off his head.  Now he could see through the swelling about his left eye. He was hauled painfully to his feet. As a dull thunk rattled the deck, he realized that his right leg was encased in a bucket filled with cement. 

Numbly, he started to stand.  He felt two men grabbed his legs and spin him about so that his back was to the water.  He heard a low chortle about “an animal chews its leg free to escape a trap.”   The chortler continued. “You’ll want this.”  A sour tasting rubber mouthpiece grated on his broken tooth as it was shoved in his mouth.

One of the men put a hand in the center of Halverson’s chest and pushed.  Halverson’s right side blazed in agony at the pressure on his broken ribs. At the pain and pressure, Halverson stepped backwards with his left leg.  The pressure in the center of his chest continued.  Halverson moved his right leg back with another thunk.  The railing caught the back of his knees.  The pressure increased, he screamed around the mouthpiece, and then he flopped backwards over the side.

As he sank through the darkening water, he coughed and began to panic as water got into his nose. He greedily sucked in air through the mouthpiece. The brackish water seared his left side as he opened his eyes. Without a light, not even blurry outlines were present.  The surface was so close, he could almost put his fingertips into the humid air. The boat’s motor started, and the boat moved off. 

A high pitched white slowly faded as the boat receded in the distance. He was left alone with the sound of his breathing. Hsst… suck in air through the mouthpiece.  Burble… bubbles rose past his left ear. 

“How far it was to shore?” Hsst…burble…hsst…burble “Was he close enough?” He felt the rusty roof of a sunken car and an upward slope beyond. He began to stump along the bottom, barely lifting his cement-heavy leg out of the bottom muck. 

The sultry voice of Barbara, his first SCUBA instructor flashed back to him…”Keep your breathing slow and even, Ken.”  “If you run out of air, breathing water doesn’t work well.”  He tried to slow his ragged breathing down.

It was getting harder to suck in air. The now familiar hsst of air into his mouth started to dwindle. Halverson reached with his right hand and felt for the loop that would trigger the reserve air supply from the regulator.  He remembered how Barbara would get his attention by lowering her voice.  He heard her quiet whisper again. “Once you pull your reserve, you only got three minutes left, buddy.  Make them count.”  The memory of her long wet brunette hair sliding across his shoulder was uncannily sharp.

He banged his shin on a car. As he crossed the roof, his feet went step, thunk, step thunk. Suddenly it hit him. He’d felt that sunken car before.  Circles…he was only moving in circles. Cold fear and despair replaced his reverie about his scuba lessons.  “I’m not going to make it out of here… not on the remaining air,” he thought.  So close, and yet so damn far from shore. 
What else could he do? Halverson suddenly realized why he was given the knife and grasped what the sadistic quip about an animal in a trap was about. I’ll have to cut my damn leg off, he thought despairingly.  The knee was his only hope. 

With a sob and a gasp he started in with the knife. A dull knife… they couldn’t even give me a sharp knife, he thought.   Each time he made a gash, the rubbery skin rolled out of the way. It took him four tries to get to the tendon on the outside of the knee.  Each time he tried to cut, his knee straightened and jerked.  He couldn’t control his rapid gasps of air. As he sawed through the tendons on the side of the joint he could feel each fiber shred and finally part. An electric shock lanced all the way to his toes as he cut through the nerves. As he severed the artery, he gasped…and got nothing.  Out of air. 

Desperately, he kicked for the surface, but he couldn’t rise...a tendon was still intact. “Where…what was still there?” He couldn’t see.  There was too much blood and the shallow depths were black.

Halverson felt the edge of bone with his hand, and sliced below it.  He felt the knife’s grating with every strand of the tendon. The knife rasped and it slowly divided. Spinning and rotating, he tried to kick free. Something was still holding him in the muck – another tendon. Frantically he tried to find the remaining taut tendon with his knife blade. The mouthpiece had nothing more to offer. He spit it out. He tried to hold his breath but he had to gasp. Now he sucked in water. He started to retch. 

Again he sucked in water. Bubbles rose, but he didn’t.  

He wasn’t able to see the edges of things. The knife fell from his clumsy fingers. He began kicking awkwardly. As he spun around the remaining tendon, Halverson sucked in more water. He reached frantically up and his hand slid out of the water.  There was nothing to grasp. His hand fell back.  Final blackness closed in. 

The last thought in his mind as Halverson died was a vague regret that he couldn’t remember what was special about New Orleans. 

Prologue - 2

0430 May 23 1999

The target wasn't much. A sort of ramshackle two story log cabin in the Idaho woods. Another log cabin served as the hub for Charles Yokich's machine shop work. A small sign along the red gravel driveway advertised 

Custom machine and die work 
by 
Charles Yokich.

The second line was partly obliterated by several holes from random gunshots fired at it in the rural sporting tradition. The rusty old red stop sign at the next intersection had nine distinct holes in the O.  The assault group formed up at the intersection underneath the ventilated stop sign. A stiff breeze reminded the ATF agents that while spring may have arrived, the mountain nights were still winter.

Ten agents surrounded the house and ensured that they had adequate fields of fire without chance of blue-on-blue incident. The intel was new and from a good source. The pre-assault briefing was given by Al Friedman, SAIC. 

Friedman was certain that there would be a significant number of contraband weapons thought to be in the house, and a no-knock bust was approved because of the possibility of automatic weapons fire. He gathered his entry team.  “All right,” he said.  “Let’s do it.  We know he’s got guns, he’s sold conversion kits for auto M-16’s.  We’ll stack tactical, enter with the ram, flashbangs after the ram.  Bull goes first with the scope, Harris and Stu have the ram.  Jim goes right, John goes left and I’ll go straight.  Pee Wee has rear security. Standard SOP.  Any questions?”

Three of the six entry specialists quietly approached the house with sound-suppressed MP5's at high port arms. Harris and Stu carried a 65 pound concrete and steel ram-entry device to break down the door. Bull, the entry leader, carried the new Starplex-IR scope. On the back of his web gear he had the optional repeater so that everybody in the stack could see the interior as he threaded the scope's fiberoptics through the keyhole.

As he threaded the scope, a dun and white spotted Brittany spaniel tore around the corner of the building growling. Pee Wee rapidly butt-stroked the dog to the ground, but the damage had been done. 

In a low tone, the leader growled “Shit..” then louder and more rapidly “Move…Move..Move!” The ram team swung the 65 pound ram at the door splintering it off the hinges and shattering the lock. A second blow popped it completely off the hinges. Two flash-bang grenades were rolled through the splinters.

The stack unfolded as the first entry went low and right, the second high and left. A silhouette was outlined against the kitchen door, opening a cabinet. As the silhouette reached into the walnut gun cabinet, the first agent screamed "Freeze, Federal Agents.” Then “Gun! Gun! Gun!" 

When the silhouette continued to pull back the outline of a rifle, he triggered the MP5 for a burst of three rounds into the center of the target's mass. The silhouette dropped bonelessly. 

An alto scream rang out from the loft above. A gun barrel glittered over the ledge of the loft as it swung down toward the leader. The first and second agents both engaged the second armed target with multiple three round bursts. The scream seems to echo in the deafening silence after the agents cease firing. Friedman belatedly calls to his crew to cease-fire as he abjectly realizes that the scream was a child's. His team quickly cleared the rest of the building. After his team members report all-clear, the leader flicked on the lights. The first target is a slim male, obviously in early adolescence, clutching a Ruger 22-caliber rifle in his hands. Two rounds in the chest and a third round high in the neck attest to the accuracy of the entry specialist's fire. As the leader ascended the steps to the loft above the living room, his worst fears are confirmed. The balcony shooter is a tattered rag clutching a Daisy 22 caliber single shot rifle. Bits of brain, blonde hair, and blood spatter the child's bed behind the formless body on the floor. The ragged white bunny tail on her one piece pink pajamas incongruously highlighted the still spreading pool of bright red blood on the floor.

Friedman leans against the wall and starts to wretch. He rips the black baclava off of his face. Tears flow and then mingle with the still spreading blood as he falls to his knees and dry heaves. Visions of his own 7 year old child replacing the rag on the floor ahead of him will haunt his dreams forever.

History

New Orleans: Mardi Gras 1969.
12 March 1969 21:30

Murchison looked at Judge Robertson as the judge studied him from his perch on the bench. It was now Thursday evening, two days after Mardi Gras. Murchison could smell the rank odors of old beer, old vomit, and old sweat wafting from his stiff and soiled clothing towards the judge.  His only consolation was the presence of his opponents in the fight in the same bench.  

“Let's see now... James Yokich Murchison.  Vagrancy, two counts of creating a public nuisance, three counts of resisting arrest, and one count of assaulting a police officer in the course of his duty. What, exactly, do you have to say for yourself, Mr. Murchison?" 

Murchison just mumbled “Nothing, sir.” 

Murchison had been sitting in the same unpadded courthouse bench for over 5 hours and had heard the judge’s invective over and over.  When he left Denver, headed for a vague dream of warm Southern hospitality and warm New Orleans weather, he had expected a warmer reception.  

He remembered the last day of Mardi Gras only as a blur.  No money, no friends, and no place to stay had not made for a pleasant experience.

The judge ranted on.  “Young man, one of the things that is special about New Orleans is that I can choose punishments more than I could in other states.  We call it the Napoleonic Code. 

I am going to give you a choice that can straighten out your life. You can either choose 180 days as a guest of the Parish of New Orleans with our fine sheriff or the deputy can escort you down to the recruiter of your choice and you can join any of our military services. If a good drill sergeant can straighten you out, you will get paid and learn a useful skill. I'll remit your sentence, seal the records, and you'll be a credit to society and not a parasite on it. Of course, if you choose jail, you get a criminal record and all that implies. Slugging a police officer is considered a felony in Louisiana, so this criminal record will change quite a bit about your future.  Your choice, son, you've got about 60 seconds to do the right thing!”

For Murchison, it didn't seem much of a choice. “1969 and Vietnam - or jail - damn slim choice.”  Then Murchison smiled to himself.  He’d be both paid and fed during his service. He raised his voice. “Your honor, I’d be proud to serve.  Thank you for your consideration.”  

He watched the judge slowly raised his head and examined Murchison as if something was wrong.  This wasn’t a place for thank-you’s.  “Mr. Murchison, you have made a good decision.” As the judge spoke, he continued to look at Murchison as if expecting some sort of trick or low humor.   “May God go with you.”  The blessing was totally unlike the judge’s behavior over the past five hours.

Of course, the sheriff's deputy didn't let him have a real choice. The deputy merely said, “Marines or Army, son?” He and nine other youths were driven directly to the Army recruiter. The deputy’s blue shirt bursting at the buttons and scuffed Sam Browne belt denting the gut as it rolled endlessly over the brown belt, reminded him of his stepfather Robert.  At least the deputy hadn’t strong-armed him into the Marines to “be a real man.”

It had felt good to take the poke at that cocky New Orleans police officer, but, as his father said. “Actions and consequences.”

Chapter 1

28 April 2001 16:30
EMS Expo 2001, New Orleans, LA.

The three paramedics from Monument Medic 23 were an entertaining contrast, as they walked down the steps of the Convention Hall opposite the aquarium.  Giant tankers appeared behind them and slid down the swollen Mississippi. Cement gave way to cobblestones as the three entered the Vieux Carre’.  Karen Sterling turned to her partners and said. “Freedom!  Ben. Henry.  These guys at Expo have finally exceeded the endurance of my butt.  Let’s get out and eat.  Where should we go, Madeline’s or Café du Monde?” 

Ben shrugged, discomfited as always by her cool and appraising gaze.  As Karen smiled at Ben Sims, he just patted his ample stomach. His paunch hid the silver paramedic belt buckle that Karen had given him when he completed training six years ago. He grinned as he said. “Easy for me.  Madeline’s has better food and the du Monde is just a coffee shop. I love this town.  Remember that we have the ‘vampire walk’ this evening, so don’t stint on the fuel.” 

Karen giggled and beamed right back, eye to eye.  “Ben, if you rolled sideways, you’d still be the same five feet, five inches!  Your favorite hobby is eating, and your favorite penance is dieting – perpetual dieting.  I know, I know, you aren’t fat – you really do carry that 220 pounds well.”  

At 27, Karen was an attractive woman with dusty highlights in her blonde hair.  A simple hunter-green Lands’ End polo shirt was tucked into her khaki pants and cinched with a silver belt buckle that Henry had given her when she graduated from paramedic training 6 years ago.  The shirt clung to her curves in a New Orleans’ spring mist.  

Henry Salomon nodded agreeably to Karen from his 6 foot perspective.  “I’ll do anything, anywhere, anywhere you want.  Just don’t talk about more death and destruction.  I’ve had enough.  First Kenny Bouvier talking about hazardous materials, then Maniscalco about disaster preparedness, then they brought together Pointer and Stewart to talk about war gasses and terrorism.  Enough, enough, enough!  Tonight’s our last night in New Orleans, and I want to see what is special about this town.  Maybe a little jazz, a Hurricane, and a walk around the French quarter after the ‘vampire walk’.”  

A silver chased turquoise clasp held a string bolo tie in the middle of his faded denim workshirt.  Henry put his hands into his brown belt with the silver paramedic belt buckle. The buckle was an exact match to Ben’s, and a gift from Ben for the same graduation.

As he walked, he swung the trio down Royale and along the antique shops towards St. Peter.  “I know it’s out of the way, but I want to look at the old medical instruments in the antique shops.”

As they rounded the corner from St. Peter onto Chartres street and into Jackson Square, street performers, fortune- tellers, and street vendor’s booths obstructed the view and assaulted the senses.  A massive palm-reader dressed in a brown monk’s robe and cowl was the first booth in the courtyard. Just beyond the palm-reader, a red and yellow attired juggler complete with red and yellow striped top hat enthralled his audience as he spun fiery wands in the air while rocking back and forth on a unicycle.  His act was just finishing.  He dropped the flaming brands and started to milk the audience for donations by riding around and holding out his striped top hat.

The obese palmist beckoned Karen to a weathered brown folding chair in front of a square table draped in black.  A large glass ball and a peeling cardboard sign on the table indicated that the proprietor told fortunes, read palms, and predicted the future. “My little pretty.” he started and Karen brusquely interrupted. ”It’s Colorado, not Kansas, and I don’t have a little dog.”  
The palmist just smiled as he remarked quietly, “No, a black cat fits your aura better.”  

“Pixel!”  Gasped Karen. Abruptly, Karen plopped down in front of the portly palmist.  “How much for my future?”  Ben and Henry crowded in behind her.

“Ten dollars.”  The palmist pointed a pudgy hand bedecked with enameled and silver rings towards his peeling sign.

Karen reached into her left pants pocket and pulled out several bills, counted out a five and five ones from the roll, and wordlessly handed them over.  The palmist took the money with one short wide glittering hand and with the other he turned her palm upwards.  He traced a line on the palm.  “You are going to meet a dark, handsome stranger.” He melodiously intoned. 

Henry interrupted. “Ok, partner. You got the bit about the cat right, how about really telling her future. If you can?”

The palmist looked up with a thin smile on his thick lips. “Ten bucks each, if you can handle it, and if you really want your future.”

Henry grabbed Karen’s arm and started to pull her away. As he turned, the red and yellow juggler butted in. “Jonah, if they want it, give them the real thing.”  The juggler looked at Karen and smirked.  “He can, you know.  He really sees what is going to happen.”  
Jonah sadly and soundlessly looked up at the juggler.  In an excited shrill voice, the jongleur continued in staccato fashion how the palmist was really a real soothsayer that could truly foretell the future until Jonah interrupted him. “Enough!”

Karen looked at the palmist, sitting confidently at the table and then up at Henry tugging on her arm.  She reached into her pocket and pulled out a twenty and laid it on the table.  “Jonah - like the whale thing, right?”  

Jonah nodded and then pushed the twenty back towards Karen.  “Not everybody really wants to know.”

“I do.”

Jonah smoothed his soiled brown robe with his ring-laden hands and looked directly at Henry.  “Before the day is done, you will shed your blood on sacred ground.  Thrice more before the year is over you will shed your blood in a holy spot.  If you are very careful, the flow will not still and you will prosper.”

He then looked up at Ben.  “Before the year is done, you will meet with fire and ice.  You will best the ice.  You can choose life or your death will set your friends free.  Set your affairs in order.”

Last he looked deeply into Karen’s eyes.  “I can’t see all of your future.  You will meet that stranger.  He will be dark and handsome and he will do his best to kill you.  You will discover a great secret.  You will have a tumultuous affair, but I can’t see with whom.  Depending on your trust, you will perish or prosper.” 

Jonah’s calm intonation and quiet demeanor as he made these three pronouncements shocked the trio more than the content of the prophecies.  

Ben was the first to comment.  “It’s hokum.  Pure bunk.  Crap.  Bullshit.  Nobody can foretell the future.”  The palmist silently frowned at Ben’s comments.  Henry just shook his head and muttered. “We paid for it, we deserve it.”  

The three gathered together as if for mutual support.  Ben spun and walked away from the seer, moving hurriedly and soundlessly towards Madeline’s and supper.

As they sat down in the crowded restaurant, all were silent, ordering the food with a terseness that even grated on the waitress at the register. 

They dug into the food in front of them without conversation.  After a silent supper and a cup of chicory-laced coffee, the trio headed back to Royale, to meet their tour guide. 

The tour lightened the mood as they toured famous graves and voodoo sites in the French quarter and the surrounding cemeteries.   

Their guide was discoursing about Marie Laveau and her influence on the culture of New Orleans.  Indeed they almost forgot the fat soothsayer until Henry got a nosebleed and sneezed blood on Marie Laveau’s gravesite, splattering over the 1897 inscribed in the whitewashed stone.  

The tour guide’s eyes widened and he rapidly enlightened the group about the significance of blood offerings in voodoo. “Marie Laveau is the queen of voodoo and followers consider her tomb to be hallowed ground.”  He pointed to the fresh flowers and beads decorating her grave.

Chapter 2

12 October 2001 2330 Hours
Denver, Colorado

The crack house was the end building in a row of six identical low-income tract houses. Abandoned about four years ago when the owners went bankrupt, the windows were covered with plywood.  A broken chain and lock swung next to the peeling green front door. The gangbangers had adopted it in their own special way. The neighbors avoided any contact with it or with the constant stream of ragged people that passed through the sagging green door.

Turner and Jones pulled their blue Taurus sedan up to the litter-covered curb.  As they stepped out of the car, their identical white turtlenecks, blazers, and gray slacks fairly screamed "establishment" to the gangbangers.  Jones reached into the back seat of the Taurus, and pulled out two aluminum brief cases.

Turner opened the green door and grimaced as the stench of old urine, stale sweat, and mildew assaulted his nose. Jones effortlessly carried the two Zero Halliburton cases up the short flight of creaking steps and into the room. 
As they entered, Turner heard the metallic clatter of a pump shotgun's action sliding home behind him on the left. On the right, they could just make out the outline of a man sitting in a chair with a pistol pointed at them. 

"Just put it down in the center of the floor, boys." A raspy voice announced. "We have been expecting you." 
A single light in an aluminum photoflood reflector provided the entire illumination to the room. The voice came from just beyond the cone of light. They could see a pair of boots sticking into the light. They couldn't see the rest of the legs, just the black, Tony Llama boots with a thin sliver of pressed and creased jeans just above them.

Jones set down the two cases on the ragged lime-green carpet and wordlessly backed up. A short blued shotgun barrel entered the cone of light and followed his movements. Turner noticed a shiny ragged scrape around the end of the barrel where it was hacksawed shorter.  

The boots uncrossed and then stepped out of the dark.  The glaring floodlight revealed that the boots were attached to a thin torso that stretched about six feet to the top of a head of blond hair tied back in a pony tail.   The boot’s owner had a narrow scar stretched from the bridge of the nose to the right eyebrow.

Boots smiled and stepped towards Turner. "Let's check out the nose candy." He bent down to open a case. "What's the combination?" 

Turner chuckled. "666." 

As Boots opened the case, two inch by two inch plastic wrapped white packages were visible on top. Boots turned the case upside down and more spilled on the floor. Selecting one at random, he opened a Swiss Army knife and slit the plastic. Touching a finger to the grainy white powder, Turner watched silently as Boots transferred a bit to his tongue. 

Boots sighed quietly and said. "Ah… good shit. The boss will be pleased with this.” He opened the other catalog case and found similar plastic packages stacked within.  He smiled at Turner.

His smile disappeared and he turned into the darkened area and said. “Jose - get these gentlemen their money." Footsteps creaked the boards.  Jose brought two identical aluminum cases into the transition from dark to light and set them down in front of Turner.

Turner picked up one case and Jones, the other. They turned to leave. 

"Aren't you going to count it?" Boots said. 

Turner turned back. "No.  But if it's not right, we'll be back to kill you. There won't be a problem, now will there?" Boots just laughed.  Jose knelt and started to carefully stack white packages into the aluminum catalog case.

Turner and Jones trooped back to the blue Ford Taurus and slung the briefcases into the trunk. As they got into the car, Jones pulled a Motorola cellphone out of the glove compartment and pushed the second speed-dial button and listened. After the phone rang one time, he hung it up.

Jones made another call with the first speed-dial button. Jonas heard the voice on the other end answer. "339-7979."

"The hatchling has left the nest" Jones murmured into the cell phone and snapped the cell phone shut. 

Turner and Jones drove around the block and parked the car about a hundred yards from the crack house. There was no movement within the house and the dim light visible earlier was gone. As they waited, a black teenager with big black baggy pants far down over his hips and red Tasmanian Devil underwear strutted up to the crack house, knocked once and entered. After thirty more minutes of observation, they did not see the boy exit the house.

#

Inside the crack house, the catalog case chirped quietly one time. A metallic click followed the ring and only the discerning eye could see the thin mist ooze out of the bottom of the suitcase. Jose looked around in alarm at the noise, but in the gloom, he didn’t notice the vapor.

Twenty-one seconds later, Jose sniffled as he continued to stack packages.  He looked at Boots and said, “It’s getting stuffy in here.”  Boots' nose started to drip clear mucous and he looked around for something to wipe it. He felt as if the light was dimming and he was starting to feel short of breath. 

A few short seconds later, his accomplice on the left also started to have a stuffy nose. Both men rapidly became faint, sweaty, and nauseated. Boots felt a growing urge to urinate. A rapid twitch developed in his right eyebrow and started progressing through his face. The symptoms inexorably progressed, and Boots' last conscious thought was a wonder if the cocaine had been poisoned.

#

Jones and Turner continued to wait for twenty more minutes.  A white and blue van decked out with a Cable TV logo and a picture of smiling Minnie Mouse on each side pulled up beside their car. Turner nodded to the occupants and both vehicles closed the distance to the house. The cable truck pulled into the overgrown weed-infested driveway and three men in blue jumpsuits got out. Two were wearing black gloves that extended to the elbows and matching knee length boots.  They promptly donned olive drab and black military gas masks. The last man reached into the open door and started to pull out canvas carrying bags.

The leader handed Turner and Jones blue Tyvek jumpsuits, hooded military gas masks, black Maglights, and a pair of black boots and a pair of black gloves each. Turner reached into his left armpit and withdrew a Ruger P50 9mm pistol from the shoulder holster. Jones pulled his own weapon. Both set their weapons down and donned the protective equipment, then picked up the Rugers.

The solitary man without a gas mask reached into the truck, pulled out an Ingram Mac-10 with a short bulbous barrel and cycled a round into the action.  He climbed into the truck and sat down in the back jump seat to the right of the door. He laid his weapon down on the floor of the truck, just out of sight, but within easy reach.  

Jones walked up the littered sidewalk, stopped in front of the green door, pivoted sideways and kicked the door. It shattered off the hinges in musty fragments. Turner and Jones entered and turned on their flashlights. The flashlight's beams’ revealed four bodies scattered over the floor of the living room.

 As he entered, the feces-stained brownish buttocks of the teenager gleamed in the harsh glow of the Maglight. The pants had completely fallen down as he seized. The terminal "moon" of the teenager seemed to mark his final rebellion.

Turner slowly pivoted.  At the far side of the room, the man in Tony Llama boots was face down.  The toes of the shiny brown boots were scuffed when their owner seized on the floor. The creased jeans were stained at the crotch with fresh feces and urine. Sputum dribbled from the nose and a harsh rictus painted an agonizing deaths-head grin on his vomit-stained face.

The shotgun lay on the floor in front of the nameless helper. Black turtleneck and black pants were stained with yellow vomit that marked his rapid passage into death. The overstuffed chair on the right was also vomit-stained and had been overturned as the owner seized and knocked it down.  

Jose was twisted over one of the Halliburton cases. The silver floodlight lay shattered on the floor at his feet.  The other case gleamed on its side as Turner swung the flashlight around.  Scattered white packages were strewn on the floor in front of the cases

Turner gazed dispassionately around the room. "The light will be our ignition point.  Check upstairs, Jones." He poked his head out of the door to the waiting men. "Gentlemen, let's do it." 

Both men entered and set down their bags.   They went back out and got two more bags each.  Each of the soldiers reached in, pulled out and opened a oblong red and silver tin container, and started to splash a mixture of acetone and Coleman white gasoline lantern fuel on the walls of the building. 

Turner reached into his bag and pulled out a black plastic flat rectangular package with a timer attached. He set the dial for 15 minutes and then laid this next to the shattered floodlight.  He pulled out a container of gasoline mix and soaked the area around the timer and dumped the rest on the partially opened aluminum case that he had left before. Then he, too, grabbed another can of acetone and white gasoline and started to splash it on the walls and furniture. Jones came downstairs and joined them. 

Within a minute, the contents of all the containers were soaking the walls and inside contents of the abandoned townhouse. The men carefully stacked the cans along the wall nearest the door and without another word, all four men left the building. The stay-behind guard got out of the Cable TV truck, opened the back door and pulled out two white gallon jugs of Chlorox bleach. He opened the Chlorox and poured it liberally over his partners. As soon as he had completely covered his nearest partner with bleach, this man reached for the other bottle and started to pour a shower of decontaminating solution on the man to his right.   Jones and Turner did likewise.  After all were completely washed down with bleach, The overalls and boots were removed and the gas masks and gloves were stuffed into the overalls. Jones poured Chlorox over all of the weapons. A final can of acetone and Coleman fuel mix was used to soak all of the overalls. Turner slipped on a pair of rubber gloves, and pitched all five sodden blue packages into the open doorway. One of the soldiers pitched the empty Chlorox jugs through the same black orifice.

The three soldiers climbed back into the van, and Turner and Jones into the Taurus. They drove into the street and stopped about a hundred yards past the house. The van continued down the street and was lost to view as it proceeded around the corner.  

Jones checked his watch and slowly counted to himself. A sharp crack assaulted his ears and was followed by a slow whummph.  The house burst into flames. 

As Turner pulled the car into the street, Jones pulled out the cellphone and dialed the first speed-dial button. When Murchison answered, Jones said "Operation QuickTap complete, sir. One hundred percent delivery. Site scrubbed. Four souls purified."

 Jim Murchison gave a terse reply. "Bless you for helping them and may their souls be well received." 

Jones closed the cell phone and turned to Turner. "They even paid us. Lab animals would get more pity and wouldn't pay us." 

Turner chortled. "Lab animals would deserve more pity, be harder to replace, and might even be missed more. The acetone and remnants of cocaine will make the authorities think that it was another drug deal gone sour. There won't even be a half-assed investigation."

Chapter 3

White House

Dale Miller was the Secret Service agent in charge of advance operations this month.  He was not a happy camper.  “You can’t be serious Mr. President… You can’t go to Mardi Gras.  The security problems are simply too much.  With nearly a million people in the streets, there is simply no way that we are going to be able to give you any protection!”
“Son… my job is to be the President.  Your job is to protect me, not to keep me from my duties.  My brother is the governor of Louisiana and has invited me to Mardi Gras.  I plan to attend.  Indeed, he has invited me to be a member of his Krewe next year. This is a special thing in New Orleans. You have six months to plan out security.  No president, sitting or past has ever been to Mardi Gras.  I’m going. See to it.”

Dale left the oval office, carefully shutting the door behind him, although he wanted to slam it shut.  Almost as if there was a smoke signal, semaphore flags, or jungle drums, the usual crowd of secretaries and sycophants cleared out of his way as he stormed to the op center and then into his office.  This door he slammed shut.  Loudly.  

He tried to cool down, quite unsucessfully. Mashing the intercom button with a stubby thumb, he barked, “Halverson, get your ass in here, now.  I have a mission from hell, and you are it”.

Chapter 4

29 January 2002 00:30 hours
Monument Volunteer Ambulance Station

Karen had just put her head on the pillow. Her pager went off with a strident bleep. Bleep. Bleeeep. "Medic 23, Medic 23. Auto accident with injuries at County Line Road and I25, auto accident with injuries at County Line Road and I25. Joint response with Monument fire department. Time 0024." Sighing, Karen swung her legs over the edge of the cot. As her feet hit the floor, she reached to the head of the bed and grabbed both boots. She stood up, pivoted to the right, and took her turnout coat from the brass wall hooks next to the scarred wooden door. It was three cold strides to the passenger's side of the lime green and white ambulance from her sleeping room. She shrugged into the coat as she sped to the ambulance.  

It was Henry’s day to be shift leader– so he was driving – he always drove when he could.  Since Karen didn’t care, he usually drove when she was leader.  Ben usually drove when he could, but occasionally gave the wheel to Henry.  All three easily accepted that Henry could make the rig slide through holes in traffic that just weren’t there. On icy days, the rig tracked straight and true when Henry held the wheel.  Others would slide and swerve, but Henry always had traction.

When she got to the ambulance, Henry was climbing into the driver's seat. Ben was headed around the rear of the rig with the trauma kit.  She opened the door, put both boots on the floorboard in front of her, and swung herself into the ambulance, closed the door, reached up to the grab handle above the door, pulled herself up and put both feet into her boots. The rear door slammed shut as Ben rolled into the rig.  She let herself fall onto the ambulance seat, but didn't let go of the grab handle with her right hand. As she bounced back down into the seat, she pulled the seatbelt diagonally across her right shoulder with her left hand, buckled it at her left hip, and continued the fluid motion with her left hand to the radio, and grabbed the mike. As she did so, Henry bounced the rig into the street, turned hard left, and turned the siren onto the "yelp" position. Karen keyed the mike, "Dispatch, Medic 23 rolling." The entire process from the time that she got the call till the ambulance was rolling took only 21 seconds.

Seven minutes later, Medic 23 arrived at the scene of a single car accident. A Colorado State Patrol car was parked along the freeway about 100 meters before the accident site, also with flashing lights. The patrol officer was setting out a protective diagonal line of flares. He put three flares at each position. One flare was lit. The second flare was touching the lit flare so that as it burned down, it would ignite the next in line.

A Colorado State Patrol car illuminated the scene with headlights and flashing blue and red lights. The gray Ford Taurus had spun off the road, down the embankment, and rolled, coming to rest with the driver's side against a Ponderosa pine. The driver's door was curved around the pine tree. The windshield and window were shattered. There was no movement within the car. A CSP officer was at the door and shining a light into the car. He looked up as Karen opened the ambulance door, shouldered her jump bag, and started down the slope. "Ah - Karen. Sorry to drag you out of bed, but this guy seems to be pretty banged up." 

Karen slid beside him and looked into the vehicle. A slim blonde male in a blue blazer and gray slacks was slumped over the steering wheel. She turned to her partner, still at the vehicle. Henry. We've got problems. He's got lateral impact from this tree and is unconscious. Where's Monument FD? We've got to peel him out of here." Almost as she finished speaking, a red and white fire truck pulled up behind their ambulance. Karen opened the undamaged passenger side door and slid in beside her patient. A brown leather briefcase slid to the floor as she climbed onto the seat.

Ben opened the back door of the ambulance, jumped out, and pulled out the gurney and grabbed the trauma bag strapped on top of it. He hefted the trauma bag and left the gurney alongside the ambulance and proceeded down the hill after Karen.

Two firefighters in bright lime green and white striped turnout coats emerged from their fire truck. Karen recognized them immediately. "Joe, Jesse, get your Jaws; we've got to get this guy out of here." The firefighters turned back to the truck and opened a side storage compartment. They pulled out a Hurst tool, hoses, and assorted attachments and proceeded down the embankment. With the powerful hydraulic Hurst tool, it took only a few minutes to remove the entire roof of the car. 

While the firefighters were removing the top of the car, Karen and Henry applied a cervical collar and secured the patient to a short backboard. Ben started an IV in his right wrist while Karen moved to the left arm and started to get the patient’s vital signs.  As Ben cut the blazer to put in the IV, she noted a small eagle shaped pin in the patient’s lapel. The eagle appeared to be clutching a pair of crossed rifles. Then she put a blood pressure cuff on his right arm and pumped it up. She put her stethoscope against the artery in the front of his elbow and started to let the pressure down. 200 – 180 – 140 – 100 – 70 – 50 – nothing. She ran the cuff up to pressure again and this time just felt for the radial pulse. 200 - 180 – 140 – 100 – 70 – wait - just a bit of a bump at 50. "Ben - this guy's pressure is on the floor. I only get 50 by palpation. We need a pressure bag on the fluids and get him out of here - Fast!"

Karen winced as Jesse clipped the B pillar next to the patient's left ear with a slow crunch of his Hurst tool. She saw him look in and nod as he told her. "That's the last - we'll lift off the roof and help you hoist him out of there now." 
Karen double-checked the straps on the short backboard and looked at the patient again. "Jesse you've got to pull the steering wheel forward. He's crumpled against it and we won't be able to lift him." 
Joe and Jesse got a chain and ratchet driven hoist from the fire truck. They looped the chain around the entire front bumper and the other end around the steering wheel through the already shattered windshield. The chain rattled as they took up the slack with the hoist, then the steering column started to creak as it was bent inexorably forward by the hoist. The patient's body started to slide forward with the steering wheel. Karen propped her body against the center console holding him erect. She felt her Ben’s coat creak against her back as he moved into position for the lift. 

Joe moved a long backboard against the remnants of the back door and readied the straps. Henry slid a green Tumi roll-on bag to the far side of the car to get a better position for the patient. Jesse moved into the driver's side door and slid his hands under the patient's buttocks and thighs. "Count of three," Karen chanted in the well-rehearsed lifting drill. "One – two - three." Four simultaneous grunts were the sole indication of the effort required for the four to lift the patient above the headrest of the gray car's seat. "Ready! Rotate!" and the patient was rotated into the horizontal position, legs straightened and then lowered onto the waiting long board. The patient was strapped onto the long board, without attempting to remove the short backboard. Each took a corner of the backboard and Karen held the IV erect as they shuffle-stepped through the shifting snow diagonally up the short hill to the warm waiting ambulance. The four reverently deposited their burden on the gurney.

Without wasted motion, Karen and Ben strapped the backboard and its contents to the gurney, and Henry opened the doors and got inside the rig.  Karen and Henry ran the gurney into the ambulance.  Ben secured the gurney in the locks. Karen clambered into the back. Ben shut the back door behind them, went around to the driver's side and climbed in. Karen pumped up the cuff and tried to get another pressure - nothing. She felt for the carotid pulse - nothing. She looked to see if the patient was breathing and it was only her cold hands that couldn't feel anything. "Ben.  We have a problem back here. This guy's arrested."
Henry reached over, pulled the remnants of the patient's blue blazer apart, and put his hands in position over the patient's breastbone. He started to lean into the patient rhythmically. As he did so, a sheaf of papers slid out of the left inside pocket of the blazer and onto the floor. Karen reached over her head and pulled out an Ambu bag with attached mask, hooked it up to oxygen and started to breathe for the patient in time with Henry's CPR. She stopped momentarily and reached up to turn the IV to wide open. 
Ben leaned forward, flicked on the overhead light bar, and turned the siren on again. Karen heard him report on the latest development. "Penrose Main, Penrose Main, this is Monument Medic 23 enroute to you with a MVA, 1 victim, male about 35, in full cardiac arrest our ETA is about 12-15 minutes. Do you copy?" 
Karen turned around "Ben. Take it slower than your usual. I want us all to get there intact in this snow." She could hear Henry's snort of disapproval. She could also feel the ambulance slow perceptibly.

Karen opened her trauma bag, selected an endotracheal tube, and a large straight laryngoscope. Twenty-one seconds later, she connected the bag-valve assembly of the Ambu ventilator to the tube and started to breathe for the patient. 
She looked down at the monitor by her right knee. A distorted blip occurred every few seconds. "Henry. Agonal rhythm with a rate of about 30. Give him a milligram of atropine." 
Henry stopped CPR and complied, popping both covers of the atropine syrette off with a flourish and sliding the medication rapidly into the intravenous line. He resumed CPR immediately while voicing an entirely unnecessary "We're losing him." 
Karen watched the monitor as the two of them resumed breathing for the patient and compressing his chest to force blood through the patient's non-functioning heart. She looked up and saw that the IV bag was empty. "Henry. Get another bag of Ringer's up." Henry’s swift reply was action, not words as he reached up pulled the "spike" out of the IV bag and plugged it into another bag of lifesaving fluids and slid this into the pressure bag. A few squeezes on the inflator bulb and the fluids started to pour into the patient. As Henry did this, Karen continued to breathe for the patient. As she watched the monitor, the width of the blips became wider and the heart rate continued to fall and then just stopped. 
"Asystole," Karen forlornly announced to herself, Ben, and Henry alike. A soft "shit" escaped Henry’s lips as he took in the pronouncement. They all knew that when the heart stopped from blunt trauma, it usually stopped for good. Ben’s only comment was "We're less than a minute away." The time had flowed quickly while they worked.

Less than a minute was an eternity, now, as they continued to breathe and compress the patient's unresponsive heart.

There was a sharp lurch to the right as they pulled off of the freeway for the short distance down Bijou to the hospital. A guard and two nurses were waiting for them as they backed into the ambulance bay. One of the nurses took over for Joe and the other got Karen's breathless report while entering the trauma suite. The emergency physician took over Karen's bag ventilations and a surgeon started to examine the patient before they could even move the patient to the hospital bed from the gurney.

The rest was anticlimactic. After Karen completed the ambulance run sheet, the surgeon told them that the postmortem films showed a massively widened heart shadow, "probably indicative of a ruptured aorta." 
Karen reflected back on the accident scene. “No seatbelt, bent steering wheel, ruptured aorta. this fits,” she thought. “No wonder we weren't able to save him. Grim reaper 1, Medic 23 – 0.” 

The registration clerk met them at the door: “Just wanted to let you know that the victim’s name was Yokich. Charles Yokich. We found the ID in his billfold and in his briefcase.”

Ben went to the pharmacy to draw new supplies and refill the drug bags. Dejectedly, Karen trudged back to the ambulance. Henry followed in trail. They started to clean up the refuse of their failed lifesaving attempt. 

As Karen pulled a black garbage bag out of the storage compartment and started to stuff in the intravenous bag wrappers and other trash from the floor, Henry noticed a small pile of papers on the floor. A brown smeared muddy boot print was mute testimony to their recent attempt to beat the reaper. 

Henry picked up the water-stained paper from the floor and opened them. "What is this, anyhow?.."

He continued to scan the paper...reading out loud as he did. "Routes of parade for the Krewe of Aphrodite in the Mardi Gras. Detailed map of the Mardi Gras area. Usual wind directions in January and February, the New Orleans average water consumption per person, the flow rates through each aqueduct, and where each pumping station is located?... This guy must have been some sort of writer. This is the kind of stuff you make a novel out of.”
He handed the papers to Karen. She huffed and looked down at them. In the center of the paper was an American bald eagle in profile with the words “Sword of the Lord” in a stylized lightning bolt style font.

She looked down at the paper again. The web address was printed in the usual upper left corner of the paper:

http://01.49.231.97/stormcenter/opfor

In the middle of the first page was:

Log on:sdert

Below the logon was hand printed pass=pior25. 

As Karen read, the details struck her like hammer-blows. "1200 pounds of fertilizer, 23 gallons of fuel oil, 50 pounds of aluminum filings, a liter of picric acid... Steal the ambulance the night before." 

"Henry. Oh – God.  This is a plan for an attack on New Orleans." 

Henry snorted. "Nope. Karen, You are a blooming paranoid. Not everybody is out to get somebody. This is an outline for a novel or something like that. This guy wasn't a raghead or militia survivalist type. There weren't any weapons or bombs in that Ford, just a scuffed up brown leather briefcase and a roll-on suitcase. Now that he's dead, we'll never find out how it ends"

"Well, Henry, there is a sure way to find out. There is an internet address and logon right here. Let's get onto a computer and find out what this internet site is like." 

"Karen. These are personal effects of somebody who was just killed in an accident. We can't just sashay onto an internet site and say we found this address in Joe Blow's papers, which, by the way, we should turn into the hospital to remain with the body. Drop it, Karen. Just put them in the trash or take them into the hospital." The last was an emphatic order. Reluctantly, Karen slid them into the trash container. Together they continued to clean the debris up. The gloom stifled all conversation.

After the ambulance was cleaned, Henry went back into the emergency department to refill the trauma bag. Ben went over to the nurses’ lounge to get coffee for all three and to see if they had any goodies. As soon as his back disappeared behind the swinging double doors of the ambulance entrance, Karen reached into the trash container and pulled out the papers again. She peeled off the first paper, folded it in half and slid it into the inside pocket of her jump coat. Then she dumped the rest of the trash into the blue and white BFI Dumpster on the side of the ambulance bay. She climbed into the front of the ambulance and waited for Henry and Ben. 

They drove back to Monument in strained silence. There was no after action banter, no quips and no conversation. Not only had they lost the patient, but Henry had pulled rank on Karen and she had deliberately disobeyed him. This was not a triumphant return. 

In the squad area, Karen hung up her coat on the brass hooks, closed the door, and slid back into the beckoning sheets.

The remainder of the shift was uneventful.

Chapter 5

29 January 2002 1420 hours
Colorado Springs, Colorado

"Computers, crashes, cats and Karate. That is all you think about, Karen. You either are at the dojo, on an ambulance, or glued in front of a keyboard." 

"Oh Mother.  That's not true." She protested weakly, realizing that her mother was probably right. Karen hung up her coat and took her sweat-stained gi out of the black Nike athletic bag. 

Mrs. Karla Sterling (ex-Mrs. Sterling as she often ruefully corrected herself) stood with her hands on her spare hips in the doorframe. She was clad in purple nylon running shorts, a purple and white "I did the Peak" T-shirt, and white Reebok running shoes. Her short hair was streaked through and through with gray. A faint sheen of fresh sweat was visible on her brow.

"You were on the ambulance when I went to bed last night, in the dojo when I went running, and on the computer when I came back. You'll get off the computer about 4 and go back to the dojo. Then you'll go out to that damn ambulance service and spend the rest of the night. I won't see you for lunch, for supper, or for breakfast." 

"Oh Mother, get a life. you got up at 6 AM -  jumped rope for 45 minutes, rode your exercycle for an hour, and went running for 15 miles. This evening you'll take a 5 mile walk and swim 2 miles. You live for exercise. Everything everybody around you does is geared to your exercise. You don't date, you don't go out except for running or swimming, and all your trips revolve around more exercise. What's so bad about computers and cats and crashes and Karate? Besides, you of all people, know my real reason."

Karen's rebuttal obviously hit a sensitive nerve further rubbed raw by Mrs. Sterling's divorce. An awkward silence prevailed. After a few moments of staring at each other, Mrs. Sterling sobbed, turned and left. Karen's plaintive voice trailed her mother down the hall." Please, mother. Mother. Mother! I didn't mean it that way." 

Karen turned to her silent computer and fixed it with an angry stare. To herself she muttered "Another day in paradise." At that point, a furry black presence brushed against her bare leg and then leapt to her desk. 

"Computer cat!" Pixel scurried off of the desk. " I swear. I just can't do anything without your help." Karen mashed the glowing red master power switch on her console. 

She decided to brew a cup of tea, while her computer pulled itself together and the familiar logo formed. She stuck a heating coil into her favorite blue and white unicorn mug, poured some bottled water into it and plugged the coil in. When it started to bubble, she added a bag of Tazo Citron tea and a liberal squirt of honey from the plastic bear next to the tea bags. Karen sighed and just sniffed the orange tang as the tea brewed.

Karen's computer chimed.  Karen turned back to the computer to logon and get her mail.

She moused up to the get mail button and pushed it. She rapidly paged through 7 new messages. Two were from Melanie Brokaw, her best friend in high school who now went by the name cosmos@aol.com, two were junk mail, and two were responses to her website advertising for custom web programming. The last message was from her old boyfriend, Stan, who had moved to New Orleans. He just wanted to say hi.  Karen marked all of the messages and printed them out.

With a sinuous leap, the tiny black cat got his front paws on the printer table, pulled, and continued on to the top of the printer. The paper started to spew forth from the Hewlett-Packard 4M printer. Pixel carefully helped each sheet out and into the paper tray with two tiny holes punched in the left-hand corner of the sheet. After each sheet was out, he went back and waited for the next sheet. "I swear. You think that's my trademark, or something." Karen said, the most recent spat with her mother forgotten. 

After the last sheet was out, he jumped off of the printer and snuggled up next to the monitor, with his paws on the top of the keyboard. Karen had cleared a place for him there, between the old West Point mug, which was filled with chewed up #2 Ticonderoga pencils, and the 15-inch flat screen monitor. His head sunk to his paws and a throaty purr drowned out the hum of her custom-built computer below the desk.  Karen took a sip of the cooling tea and started to read the new mail.

She scanned through Mel's first message. Mel wanted her to know that she was moving from Philadelphia to New Orleans and what the new snail-mail address and phone number were. The second message was the same as the first. She deleted it mentally noting that AOL had done it again. She filed the advertising responses in her ToDo pile and ditched the junk mail. “Typical afternoon e-mail,” she thought. “And a typical shitty day in the Sterling household.”

Abruptly, she remembered the early morning dance with the Grim Reaper.  She soundlessly padded into the hallway and slid the bloodstained, folded paper out of her jacket pocket, returning to her room equally quietly. The forbidden papers in front of her commanded her full attention now, completely banishing the fatigue of her busy night. The twin twisted lightning bolt shapes evoked malevolence.

She moused over to Netscape and started the internet browser.  Pixel climbed to his accustomed place, using the back of her chair and her shoulder as the shortest direct route.

Karen looked at the corner of the paper and keyed the URL into the computer. This time the twisted logo formed directly on the screen in front of her.  The cursor was in the logon section.

Conscience, fatigue, and apprehension met in her gut. “No, I’d better not.  I’m not really up to this, right now.”  She folded the paper again, and put it in her pocket.  She turned off the computer.  Closing the drapes, she began the process of getting ready to bed down in full daylight. 

Six hours later.

Karen went through the logon procedure and tried the handprinted password.   It worked flawlessly.  

Karen scanned the screen.  The plans on the screen mirrored the papers in her hand. "Henry, shit! This is a real mess.  This is not a story!"  She started to print out the plans again.
As she read, a small communication window opened up on her screen.  Within the window appeared:

Talk from Brotherhood sysop

Then

Who are you?  Can I help you?

"Ohhh Pix.   I think we need to get out of here."

Karen typed a few words and then shut down the machine again.

Chapter 6

29 January 2002 1427 hours
Brotherhood headquarters
Near Monument, Colorado 

Log on:sdert

Password: pior25

Log on site: Kayster@iv.NetWorld.com

ALERT ** ALERT ** ALERT ** ALERT ** ALERT

log on site does not match log on / password combination

14:27:09 P.M.

Cumberland looked at the event log on the computer screen. "Micah... I have an unauthorized logon on StormCenter." "It happened about 9 PM today... the logon reads MVAS@EMS.Monument.CO.US and they accessed the Brotherhood OpFor plans.
 Micah, I told you that we should have encrypted the files. I know your argument... if we encrypt the files we attract attention from every hacker in the world and any security agency with 2 computers and an internet connection. You think that we get better security by the purloined letter ploy... Just how did they get into the site, anyhow? We kept this site unregistered and don't have any links to it from any of our other sites." 
Micah quietly replied, “There are over 40 million web sites, and who knows how many pages on each of the sites. You have to have the exact address in order to get into this part of the site. You have to have an access code and password to get any further." 

Cumberland continued to rant. "I know the theory, Micah. but now we have somebody who accessed the site. They used one of our buried assets' log on and password. Praise the Lord that we record the e-mail address of every request into the website and match that to the list of the authorized users. Our overwatch program recognized that it was from an unauthorized log on site. Now we have to go get them... that’s the drill."

Micah replied “Are we sure that it isn’t one of ours? Do we have an operative out?”

Cumberland lifted his eyebrows. “The only operative out is Yokich. He just left headquarters and is driving down to New Orleans to reconnoiter. My Lord, the weather out there is miserable. What a night to drive.” 

Micah turned towards Cumberland and continued. “You know we can’t leave any tracks on the airlines… We aren’t going to be like our late lamented friend in Oklahoma.”

When Cumberland looked back at Micah, he shuddered slightly. Micah was a short plump man with a round face that was framed by a full gray beard beneath a balding head. A short hooknose divided two unblinking pale gray eyes. The overall effect was of a well fed owl quietly contemplating a foraging field mouse and thinking “I'm not hungry yet.” Cumberland shuddered again and stared at the screen. 

Micah sat at the keyboard. "Let's start backtracking that e-mail site address. It's from the folks at NetWorld... I'll check the roster and see if anybody from SOL is on the staff. If we have a contact, we can get the hardwire address."

Log on: MVAS@EMS.Monument.CO.US
The clock on his screen said 21:42::03 P.M.

"Wait... he's just logged in again... let me see if I can get the information straight from him." Micah rapidly typed

Talk from Brotherhood sysop

Then

Who are you? Can I help you?

The computer screen spit back.

Nobody. Bye.

Logoff

"Well that didn't help much, Micah." Cumberland slowly replied after the terse exchange. 

Micah turned his glacial gray gaze towards Cumberland. "We will find him. Failure will not be an option…. But, then, it never is, is it?" 

In Cumberland’s head, the owl started to circle a bit closer to the mouse. “I'm beginning to get a bit hungry.”  

Cumberland turned away. "Let me get Turner to get a team mobilized, while you find out where our new friend is located. Since they know our current logon sequence, they must have access to some part of the plans. We need to find out where they got it and Turner must purify both source and current owner, as they say, with 'extreme prejudice'. I have to remind Turner to recover the plans.” 

Micah's hiss followed him out the door. "Be sure to inform Brother Murchison of the breach. He will need to know at once."

Chapter 7

29 January 2002 2230 hours
Brotherhood headquarters
Near Monument, Colorado

As Murchison entered the computer center, Micah slowly spun his chair around. “Sir, that address account is registered to Monument Valley Ambulance Service, just south of us in Colorado Springs. Turner is already on the way.”

“Brother Murchison, I’m sorry to have to give you more bad news.  Charles is dead. Apparently he was killed last night in an automobile accident on I25. His car slid off the road in the ice and snow, and struck a tree.  The police report does not have any evidence of foul play, and Monument Valley Ambulance Service was the responding ambulance.”

Murchison closed his eyes quietly. His voice was a hoarse whisper. “Micah, Charles was very close to me. As you know, he was my cousin. I brought him into our fold after his children were killed in the Idaho raid. He was responsible for much of the planning for our next operation. I will miss him. I want this person. I’ll not have him or her spoil Charles’ special plans with meddling.” Murchison turned and walked out the door.

Chapter 8

30 January 2002 0800 hours
Colorado Springs, CO

Ufffff. The knife hand came from the right side and impacted just below her right breast. That hurt! Karen spun away with a grimace and pivoted on her right toes to launch a spinning back kick with her left heel. He had not recovered from the attack. Her leg brushed aside his futile attempt at a block and bore in. At the last instant, Sterling pulled the kick in the approved fashion, sort of. Had she meant to kill, her focus would have been 1 inch past the other side of his skull. Had she been in competition, a focus at the skin would be appropriate. Karen left just enough to rock him on his feet.  Just so that he knew it wasn't a fluke, she followed the kick by stepping through and replanting her left foot to perfectly execute a sidekick from his completely unguarded side. This kick just caressed his throat. David sat down in a slump.

"No! You let him through your guard. He made first contact." The words were quiet, measured, and sparse. Kitama's halo of thin white hair accented his words. Her Sensei was dressed in a starched faded gi, frayed white-weathered black belt cinched in the middle. Karen had an equally faded white gi, also girded with a black belt. The other wore a black top with white trousers. A fresh black belt with red stripe in the middle completed his costume.

Karen was plainly frustrated. She dripped sweat from her headband and dark splotches stained the underarms of her gi. Her opponent massed over 200 pounds and topped 6 feet tall. "Sensei, this is the fourth time I've broken through his guard."

"Again!" Master Kitama barked. "Protect your side while you develop the kick." "You need to work on the timing." "Ready. Again!" Her partner slowly straightened from the floor and assumed a ready position. His head was up and his shoulders back, but a small quiver of his hands and the tight set of his jaw betrayed his fatigue. 

Karen focused herself as her Sensei had taught. A single deep breath in, tense the belly muscles and let it out slowly: She imagined a black hole in a storm-tossed ocean. "Weakness is a cold black void… I fill that void with light, I fill that void with me, I fill that void with purpose. I banish weakness with light and purpose and myself." The void filled and the waves stilled. She looked up at her opponent and simply smiled.

"Haji Ma! ("Attack!)” Kitama declared. David moved forward. Karen stepped into the attack. This time, she disdained his attack and moved forward into his sweeping side kick. She caught his ankle with her hand and simply accelerated the motion, dropping to one knee and pivoting as she did. Expecting resistance and encountering none, indeed being aided through the kick by her hand caught him completely off guard and off balance. Instead of a graceful spin with the kick, his whole body followed the ankle upwards and past Sterling. As David landed in an awkward sprawl, Karen spun forward and upwards onto the balls of both feet, raising her left hand above her right shoulder and brought it down with her entire body weight behind it to the mat next to his neck. Thwap..

"Excellent, but not Karate." said Kitama. 

"No." said Karen, " I simply can't block somebody twice my weight, at least not without risking myself."

"I like it, at your level, incorporating the best from other disciplines strengthens." This comment startled her. She had been expecting not praise but criticism from her Old World Sensei. "It's why you have been working so hard on this defense. It educates you that you must redirect superior force, not meet it head-on. You have learned your lesson for today. You must remember it."

He stopped and turned to her as if with an afterthought; "Karen you are doing well, but you are sometimes too serious about survival at any cost. You have become a warrior. Anyone who is in good shape as a warrior doesn't really try to survive at any cost. It's not that you'd throw away your life, but you're willing to spend it. Hopefully spending it smartly for a worthwhile objective. To be too attached to life limits your performance; the stronger the attachment, the poorer you will do. Remember that some day you may be called to sheath the sword - with your body as the sheath. You'll know if or when that duty calls." With those words, he vanished into his office.

